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The Bethel Baptist Institutional Church occupies the northwest 
corner of the intersection of Hogan and Caroline Streets between down­ 
town Jacksonville and the residential community of Springfield. The 
church congregation traces its origins back to the initial Baptist 
congregation in Jacksonville, and this structure has served as its 
permanent house of worship since 1904, replacing the church complex 
destroyed by the Great Fire of 1901.

M.H. Hubbard of Utica, New York, was commissioned by the congre­ 
gation to design a church complex after the fire, and William Stenson, a 
local Jacksonville contractor, supervised the construction of this build­ 
ing in 1904. The building is of buff grey concrete block and white wood 
trim. Stylistically, the building reflects the influence of Greek 
Revival and Romanesque church architecture, but it is more correctly 
classified as eclectic—showing several influences but with no one style 
dominating. The exterior appearance of the structure reveals a series 
of projecting eaves all around the building. There are several differ­ 
ent roof types incorporated into the design of the church. Projecting 
ridges at right angles meet in combination with two central domes sup­ 
ported by decorative engaged pilasters and with two projecting wings 
that have hip roofs topped by finials. The domes connect to support a 
cupola that is partially hidden by the large bell tower when viewed 
from the main facade. Subsidiary entrances are located in the two wide 
projections that have hip roofs. Each alternate roof type mar&s a 
different wing on the main facade of the church. The surfacing of the 
roof consists of metal sheathing, with slate shingles on the roof of 
the bell tower.

There is a large bell tower centrally located on the main facade 
which dominates the exterior appearance of the church. The main en­ 
trance to the church sanctuary, situated at the base of the tower, con­ 
sists of two wooden doors painted white with an arched lintel and stain 
glass lunette. An inscription was placed above the entrance in stone 
that reads: BETHEL BAPTIST INSTITUTIONAL CHURCH 1868-1904. The middle 
section of the tower is elaborately decorated with carved wood and the 
arched opening is protected by a small wooden balustrade. A dentilled 
cornice surrounds the edge of the tower roof which rises to a peak that 
is topped by a finial.

All windows are either of the fixed or casement variety. Windows 
on the main block of the church and which illuminate the sanctuary are 
fixed with stained glass insets depicting religious figures and scenes. 
The southwest portion of the building is used for church administrative 
purposes and contains several offices and meeting rooms. This wing has 
its own subsidiary entrance set off from the sanctuary but connected by 
a side hallway. The sanctuary consists of a large open room with fixed
wood pews surrounding the pulpit and a choir loft to the rear and 
above. The walls of the sanctuary are of smooth plaster and do not 
leave the impression of projecting wings that one receives from an ex­ 
terior view. There is an additional small entry stoop set off in the
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southwest corner of the sanctuary.

The Bethel Baptist Institutional Church complex remains today sub­ 
stantially the way it appeared at the time of its completion in 1904. 
The most significant alteration has been the change of the roof surfacing 
from a dark shingle to a silver shingle and metal sheathing to reflect 
the sun and add to the color and glimmer of the exterior. Its location 
provides a clear view of the structure from several blocks in either di­ 
rection, and it stands as an architectural monument to the rebuilding of 
Jacksonville after the Great Fire of 1901. Its blend of Greek Revival 
and Romanesque influences coupled with the several projecting wings and 
the unusual roof placement, single the church out as one of the more 
significant pieces of church architecture in Jacksonville and one of the 
most original "post-fire" creations.
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Bethel Baptist Institutional Church, Jacksonville, Florida, holds a 
position of distinction in the history of Jacksonville. It has served as 
a focal point for the religious and community fulfillment of Jacksonville's 
black population. Throughout its lengthy history it has been intimately 
connected with the spiritual and cultural life of the entire Jacksonville 
communi ty.

In July, 1838, the Reverend James McDonald of Georgia came to 
Jacksonville, then a young but growing settlement in northeast Florida 
on the St. Johns River, and established the first Baptist congregation 
in the city (Davis p. 401). The congregation was officially incorporated 
by the Legislative Council of the Territory of Florida in February, 1841, 
under the name of Bethel Baptist Church.

At the time of the church's incorporation, Reverend McDonald served a 
mixed congregation of blacks and whites, slaves and slave owners. The 
mixed congregation continued to grow and changed location several times 
prior to the Civil War. They finally settled on a site on the north side 
of Church Street between Julia and Hogan Streets in 1861 and erected a new 
house of worship that year.

During the course of the Civil War, the city of Jacksonville was occu­ 
pied four separate times by Federal troops. Various churches in town were 
used as hospitals and schools by the Union Forces. The day of the Battle 
of Olustee (February 20, 1864) Federal troops took possession of Bethel 
Baptist Church and converted it into a hospital for their wounded. By the 
time of the removal of the occupying army that spring, the church was badly 
damaged and in need of extensive repairs. The congregation was not to reach 
settlement with the United States government for reparation of damages until 
1912.

At the close of the Civil War an attempt was made to separate the 
white and black members of the Bethel Baptist congregation. Reflecting on 
this general trend in the postwar South, Edward Joiner has written:

Ajf.t.er the Civil War a desire for separate churches grew among 
the Florida Negro Baptists until it came to be expressed in the 
formation of their own separate churches. . .Thus, as the first
opportunity, many Negro Baptists moved to establish their
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separate churches (Joiner p. 50-51).

Such was the case in Jacksonville, where a dispute arose over the 
possession of church property, and a legal battle was carried on for 
several years. Finally a court settlement in 1868 resolved the conflict, 
awarding the Church Street property to the white members of the Bethel 
Baptist congregation and granting the black members financial compensation 
and retention of the church name. There is some dispute over the exact 
amount of money awarded to the black members; some sources quote the 
figure as $800 and others as. $400. The whites took a new name, Tabernacle 
Baptist Church, which was later changed to First Baptist Church of 
Jacksonville.

The black congregation moved to a newly purchased piece of property 
on Pine Street (now Main) at the intersection of Union Street in downtown 
Jacksonville. A small wood frame chapel was built here, and the Reverend 
Cataline Simmons was called as their first pastor. Reverend Simmons 
served as the pastor of the Bethel congregation from 1868 to 1880.

In 1880 the American Baptist Home Mission Society founded the Live 
Oak Institute in Live Oak, Florida, for the purpose of educating black 
youths in the vicinity. The new school received continuous harrassment 
from local white citizens, and the American Baptist Home Mission Society 
withdrew its support from the Institute. A group of local black citizens 
attempted to keep the school in operation but eventually decided to form 
a new school in Jacksonville which was considered to be a more hospi­ 
table location. By October 5, 1892, the new school, known as the Florida 
Baptist Academy, was a reality. It was located temporarily at Bethel 
Baptist Church (Joiner p. 227-278). The Academy was eventually -moved 
to St. Augustine and renamed the Florida Normal and Industrial Institute.

In 1894 the Bethel Baptist Church was rechartered by the State 
Legislature. Feeling the pressures of a growing congregation, the Bethel 
Baptist Church, under the leadership of Reverend Jerome Milton Waldron, 
erected a large red brick structure in 1895. Replacing the smaller wood 
frame building that had served the congregation since its separation in 
1868, this new house of worship was constructed at a cost of $26,000. 
The church was destroyed by the great conflagration that engulfed almost 
the entire downtown section of Jacksonville on the afternoon of May 3, 1901

After the fire of 1901, all of the churches in the downtown area of 
Jacksonville were forced to rebuild and rechart their future development. 
Reverend Waldron and his congregation purchased the entire block on the
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northwest corner of the intersection of Hogan and Caroline Streets and 
made plans for the construction of a new church complex. After a fund 
raising campaign which took the pastor throughout the Northeast was suc­ 
cessfully completed, M.H. Hubbard of Utica, New York, was commissioned 
to design a new church complex for the Bethel congregation. William 
Stenson, a local Jacksonville contractor, supervised the actual construc­ 
tion of what is today the present Bethel Baptist Institutional Church. 
After construction was completed in 1904, a local newspaper gave the 
following description of the New church: "This church is a monument to 
industry, Morality, and Religious Enterprise of Jacksonville's Colored 
Citizens" (Florida Daily Sun, December 24, 1904).

In 1901, at the suggestion of Reverend Waldron, the Afro-American 
Life Insurance Company was organized. It began as a small church society 
for the benefit of the Bethel congregation; but when the society continued 
to grow far beyond the original expectations, an independent corporation 
was formed. Today it has blossomed into one of the largest life insurance 
agencies in the city.

The church congregation was again chartered by the State of Florida 
in 1921 when its name was changed to the Bethel Baptist Institutional 
Church. Since its separation from the white members of the old Bethel 
Baptist Church in 1868, the Bethel Baptist Institutional Church has served 
as the "Mother Church" for the following Jacksonville congregations: 
Central Baptist Church, Greenland Baptist Church, Second Baptist Church, 
Day Springs Baptist Church, Saint Lukes Baptist Church, Bethel Baptist 
Church (South Jacksonville) and Panama Park Baptist Church. In addition, 
a congregation that had its origins in the Bethel Baptist Institutional 
Church of Jacksonville was formed in Chaseville, Florida.

The history of the Bethel Baptist Institutional Church of Jacksonville 
Florida, has been intimately connected with the development of one of 
Florida's principle settlements and later metropolitan areas. After the 
separation of the congregation in 1868, the Bethel Baptist Institutional 
Church continued to be the principle influence on the spiritual life of 
Jacksonville's black community. In addition to ministering to the city's 
black population, the church has played an important role in the twentieth 
century growth of Jacksonville. It remains today a landmark to the early 
settlement of Jacksonville and to its continued growth and development.
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